Distribution Agreement

In presenting this thesis as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for a degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter now, including display on the World Wide Web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis.

Kayla Salehian April 10, 2023

A Typology of Rebel Commitments & Compliance to International Humanitarian Law

By

Kayla Salehian

Dr. Emily Gade Adviser

Dr. David Davis

Adviser

Political Science

Dr. Emily Gade

Adviser

Dr. David Davis

Adviser

Dr. Dan Reiter

Committee Member

A Typology of Rebel Commitments & Compliance to International Humanitarian Law

By

Kayla Salehian

Dr. Emily Gade

Adviser

Dr. David Davis

Adviser

An abstract of
a thesis submitted to the Faculty of Emory College of Arts and Sciences
of Emory University in partial fulfillment
of the requirements of the degree of
Bachelor of Arts with Honors

Political Science

Abstract

A Typology of Rebel Commitments & Compliance to International Humanitarian Law By Kayla Salehian

Non-state actors in civil conflicts demonstrate varying levels of commitment and compliance to international humanitarian law (IHL). What explains this variation in rebel group behavior? This study investigates the conditions under which groups abide or fail to abide by the principles of IHL. I develop a typology of rebel group commitment and compliance behavior, categorizing non-state actors into four groups based on their incentives and group-level and conflict-level variables. I conduct a plausibility probe of nine prominent groups in the Syrian Civil War and utilize process tracing to determine which factors contribute to the likelihood that groups comply or fail to comply to IHL. In the Syrian Civil War, groups who are religiously motivated and/or have global territorial aspirations are more likely to violate the principles of IHL. The centralization of group leadership and the recruitment strategies groups utilize impact their ability to ensure militants abide by the law of armed conflict (LOAC). By discovering the conditions under which groups are likely to abide by IHL, state sponsors and international actors can better distribute resources to ensure aid is directed towards groups who uphold IHL values. By better understanding the factors that influence a group's likelihood of IHL compliance, international humanitarian lawmakers can develop laws that directly apply to non-state actors, create incentives for compliance, and include accountability mechanisms, minimizing the harmful impact civil wars have on civilians.

A Typology of Rebel Commitments & Compliance to International Humanitarian Law

By

Kayla Salehian

Dr. Emily Gade

Adviser

Dr. David Davis

Adviser

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Emory College of Arts and Sciences of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Bachelor of Arts with Honors

Political Science

Acknowledgements

A very special thank you to Dr. Gade for the mentorship and support you have given me these past four years at Emory. I am extremely appreciative of the incredible guidance and feedback you have provided me throughout this project, and throughout my time in the lab. Thank you for helping me create a meaningful research project that combines my interests. Your support has been invaluable, and I am beyond excited to see how this project continues to progress.

To Dr. Davis, thank you for inspiring my interests in human rights research and for aiding in my understanding of research processes. I have learned so much from your classes and mentorship, and I am grateful for your time and guidance.

To Dr. Reiter, thank you for serving on my committee and for exposing me to theories of war and conflict which have ignited my interests in international conflict and resolution. I have thoroughly enjoyed my experiences in your classes, and I sincerely appreciate your feedback.

To the entire O/R lab, thank you for your support and camaraderie the past few years – you have all inspired in me a love for research and shown me how collaborative and supportive academia can be.

Finally, I could not do any of this without the love and support of my family and friends. Thank you for encouraging me throughout this process.

Table of Contents

Introduction	1
International Humanitarian Law	5
ternational Humanitarian Law	9
Typology of Compliance	9
Legitimacy Seekers	11
Resource Seekers	13
Local Support Seekers	16
Revisionists	17
Methods and Data	19
Independent Variables	21
Dependent Variable	22
Alternative Explanations	23
Illustrative Examples: Syrian Rebel Groups	25
Results and Discussion	30
Summary of Expectations	42
Conclusion	43

Introduction

Civil wars result in thousands of innocent lives lost, displaced, and subject to instability each year. While violence against civilians is perpetuated by both state and non-state forces, these actors differ in their obligations to abide by international humanitarian law (IHL). Rebel groups, unlike state parties, do not have the opportunity to sign and ratify treaties governing IHL (Roberts and Sivakumaran 2012). The LOAC outlined in the four Geneva Conventions and three Additional Protocols apply to signatory state parties and are applied to rebel groups when states formally recognize the group as violent and posing a threat to overall stability, which rarely occurs (Rubin 1972; Simmons 2010). Yet, rebel groups make public commitments to abide by the law of armed conflict (LOAC) outlined in the Geneva Conventions through soft commitments — in the form of unilateral declaration, bilateral agreements with governments, agreements with existing international organizations, agreements with non-governmental organizations (NGO's), membership statements, founding doctrines of groups, etc. (Jo 2015; Sivakumaran 2011). While some rebel groups are genuine in their commitment to uphold IHL, other groups make IHL commitments with little intention of abiding by them in conflict.

Indeed, rebel groups may have significant incentives to lie. State sponsors provide non-lethal or arms aid to rebel groups who have created a positive reputation internationally for committing to IHL (Jo 2015). Yet, sponsors are physically distanced from the conflict and cannot always effectively monitor the conflict behaviors of the groups they support (Fazal 2018). State sponsorship of groups who violate the LOAC perpetuate violence against civilians and increase human atrocities (Bangerter 2011), which can be catastrophic for state actors and civilians on the ground alike. Powerful state sponsors, such as the United States, need to be able to distinguish between groups who will abide by claims of commitment and groups who harbor ulterior

motives. Determining which factors make it more likely that groups are honest in their commitments to IHL will have important policy implications for states whose sponsorship decisions greatly impact the outcome of a conflict.

What does this look like in practice? The Free Syrian Army, a rebel group in the Syrian Civil War, states in the code of conduct all members sign before joining:

"I will respect human rights in accordance with our legal principles, our tolerant religious principles, and the international laws governing human rights – the very human rights for which we struggle today and which we intend to implement in the future Syria" (ICRC, 2012).

Yet, despite this public agreement and commitment to IHL, in a report of human rights violations in Syria, the Free Syria Army engaged in launching mortars and indiscriminately shelling government-controlled areas, killing over six children and wounding more than 20 civilians (Idris 2017). Despite claiming to uphold IHL values, the FSA engages in indiscriminate forms of violence, highlighting how insurgency groups' actions in conflict do not always align with the practices they claim to abide by. This could be because groups never had an intention of abiding by these commitments to begin with (Ryngaert and Meuleubroucke 2012), because groups lack command and control of their forces (Green 2018), or because of on the ground incentives, as the war unfolds, that require groups to engage in dastardly tactics that they did not plan for at the outset (Downes 2007).

When comparing rebel groups' commitments of compliance and violent actions, groups demonstrate extensive variation in their messages and subsequent behaviors, both within and between conflicts (Bangerter 2011). While some rebel groups claim compliance and actively break LOAC in everyday battles, other groups never claim compliance in the first place, but uphold the principles outlined in the Geneva Conventions in their conflict behaviors (Jo 2015). Rebel groups have both incentives to act like states (and thus uphold international law) and

incentives to do what they must in order to survive (which may involve violating international humanitarian law). What explains how groups make this choice?

Existing literature on rebel behavior heavily focuses on civilian victimization and the reasons groups utilize various violent tactics to achieve specific goals (Jo 2015; Stathis 2006). But the *motivations* rebel groups have when determining whether to genuinely engage in IHL, to avoid it, or to engage discursively is not yet theorized. Groups have strategic incentives to commit acts of violence in the most effective way possible, minimizing overall costs and providing the group with territorial or military gains (Jo 2015; Salehyan et al. 2014; Weinstein 2006). In the study of rebel relationships with international law, groups are treated as relatively homogeneous, and assumed to have similar motivations in conflict. My thesis seeks to address this theoretical gap.

This thesis investigates the conditions in which groups are likely to engage in various commitment and compliance behaviors. I construct a typology of groups based on the presence of public commitments to IHL and their compliance or noncompliance to the LOAC. Based on this typology, I theorize that features about rebel groups are likely to dictate the incentives they face regarding the implementation or non-implementation of IHL commitments. From this theoretical frame, I draw out a series of expectations which depict how features of rebel groups and their conflict environment may make their use of IHL more or less likely. First, I consider how the type of conflict rebels participate in (secessionist, multi-party vs. two-party) impacts the likelihood that groups will 1) make public commitments to IHL and 2) follow through on these commitments in conflict practices. I also expect that group-level variables, such as religious and territorial aspirations, along with relative group power, impact the likelihood of commitment and subsequent compliance. I argue that groups who are relatively weaker and/or are operating in a

multi-party conflict are more likely to make public commitments to international law, but actively break the LOAC in their compliance behaviors. Groups who are strongly motivated by religious and/or territorial aspirations are more likely to abstain from making public commitments to IHL and to break the LOAC, as they denounce international law as a Westernized institution. Groups in regional conflicts who want to control a specific territory within a country are more likely to abstain from making public commitments but demonstrate a respect for IHL through conflict behaviors.

I use a series of vignettes to consider the viability of this theoretical frame. I nest my study in the Syrian Civil War, and evaluate which factors influence the likelihood that groups fall within the four categories outlined in the typology: legitimacy-seekers, resource-seekers, local support-seekers, and revisionists. I conduct an in-depth analysis comparing my expectations of groups to their actions in conflict, using their commitments to IHL, post-conflict goals, relative power, sponsorship, ideology and IHL-related conflict behaviors. Data is collected from unilateral declarations and statements, groups' founding doctrines, news reports, human rights reports and interviews with group leaders conducted by journalists in the field.

In the initial analysis conducted, I found that my expectations for legitimacy seeking groups were met, as groups who are motivated by religious ideological beliefs and territorial expansion are more likely to reject IHL as an institution and violate the LOAC in the context of the Syrian Civil War. For legitimacy-seeking groups, I found that IHL compliance is dependent on a group's ability to effectively control and manage the actions of its militants. When group leadership is decentralized and militants lack a sense of accountability, groups are more likely to violate IHL commitments. Centralized leadership is necessary to ensure that signed agreements are enforceable. For resource seekers, I found some evidence that groups who receive state

sponsorship and resources after committing to IHL violate the LOAC to some extent in their conflict behaviors. This analysis sheds light on the incentives and motivations groups possess to engage with international law when they are not legally obligated to do so. Since international law does not allow rebel groups or other non-state actors to formally make commitments in treaty-like form, the results of this analysis may inform international stakeholders of the importance of engaging non-state actors in humanitarian law. Given the especially violent nature of intra-state conflicts, understanding the incentives that make groups more likely to abide by IHL can better inform state sponsor decision-making and third-party resolution efforts.

International Humanitarian Law

The four Geneva Conventions, established in the Hague, Netherlands in 1949, require parties to abide by humanitarian law in an effort to guide the types of violence states engage in – both in intrastate and interstate conflicts. The rules outlined in the Geneva Conventions and the Three Additional Protocols apply in times of armed conflict, and primarily provide protection for civilians and individuals who are no longer taking part in hostilities. In the first and second Geneva conventions, protections are guaranteed for those who are wounded or sick, on land and sea (ICRC 2010). The third Geneva convention outlines how parties must provide humane treatment to prisoners of war, prohibiting: violence to life and person, cruel treatment and torture and violations of personal dignity and judicial procedures (ICRC 2010). The fourth Geneva convention provides protections to civilians (ICRC 2010). These together give us the notion that violence is constrained in armed conflict, as IHL aims to limit the effects of armed conflict to the greatest extent possible. Given that non-state actors are perpetrators of violence against civilians and non-combatants, it is important to determine the incentives groups have to comply or not comply with the LOAC.

To abide by IHL, violence must be discriminately targeted at combatants, as it is against the LOAC to utilize means of warfare – bombs, air strikes, mass shootings – that harm civilians in an effort to defeat an opposing party (Cassese 1984). Yet, rebel groups may find these methods of warfare more effective at harming the regime they are rebelling against, creating an incentive for rebels to break the LOAC (Bangerter 2011). Common Article 3 is an identical provision in all the aforementioned conventions and further highlights the responsibilities parties must follow in armed conflict, which include protecting individuals who are wounded or sick (Cassese 1984). This provision highlights how violence targeted at medical facilities, or at aid relief operations facilitated by the Red Cross among other organizations, violate the LOAC. As I refer to the LOAC or IHL throughout this thesis, I am specifically referencing the LOAC outlined in the four Geneva Conventions and the three Additional Protocols.

Rebel groups have been excluded from formal international law-making and consequently, cannot sign or ratify international treaties (Roberts and Sivakumaran 2012). States, as the primary framers of IHL, had little interest in legitimizing rebellion movements and domestic challengers, resulting in the exclusion of rebel groups from IHL treaties (Fazal 2018). It is unsurprising that international actors are reluctant to formalize IHL agreements with rebel groups, as these groups challenge the foundation of the international legal system: state sovereignty (Fazal 2018). Consequently, rebel groups who want to engage with IHL must make commitments through other means—signing commitments with NGO's, outlining IHL practices in codes of conduct or in group doctrines, or through public videos and statements about the group's beliefs.

Groups are not bound to the LOAC in the same manner as states who have ratified the Geneva Conventions. Scholars argue that international law imposes obligations on certain parties

in internal armed conflict irrespective of any recognition granted by the state they are fighting against or by any third-party state (Clapham 2006). While groups may be legally bound to the LOAC if the state they are rebelling against is a signatory of the Geneva Conventions, accountability mechanisms for non-state actors are weak (Rubin 1972). State parties to IHL treaties often violate the LOAC, increasing the likelihood that rebel groups will similarly violate IHL practices (Sivakumaran 2011).

Though groups vary in their incentives to engage in state-like behavior, scholars have found that only 20% of contemporary rebel groups have expressed commitments to international law, and even fewer groups abide by these commitments in practice (Jo et al. 2021). Rebel groups demonstrate commitments to abide by the LOAC through unilateral declarations, bilateral agreements with governments, agreements with non-governmental organizations (NGO's), membership statements, founding doctrines of groups, among other means. (Jo 2015). The law of armed conflict constrain the actions rebel groups are able to take against the state and opposing forces, contributing to the question at hand: why and under what conditions do groups claim to abide by the LOAC and follow through with these commitments, and when do they lie?

Rebel groups face incentives and opportunities to actively break the LOAC, complicating the reasons they might voluntarily claim adherence. For instance, in conflict environments in which territorial control is constantly shifting between opposing groups, there may be limited and fleeting opportunities to inflict damage upon a rival rebel group or pro-government militia, making it more challenging for rebel groups to abide by the LOAC. Rebel groups may view discriminate targeting of fellow combatants as a burden that would set them behind relative to other groups, as this method of conflict requires more resources, planning, and fighters, with a lower probability of success (Fazal 2018). Prior research has found that rebel groups have

strategic incentives to attack civilians to prohibit coordination between state forces and civilians (Stanton 2020). Attacking civilians can break down resolve from opposition forces, as state governments may be more willing to make concessions when conflict costs and civilian deaths are increasing (Stanton 2020). Therefore, rebel groups strategically target civilians or view discriminate violence as costly and disadvantageous for gaining power and territory in a conflict. Compliance to the LOAC may also be impacted by the policies enacted by the state government groups are rebelling against. State governments threaten individual participation in rebel groups, raising the stakes for rebel groups and lowering incentives to comply to IHL. For instance, in the case of Syria, the Assad regime established that any individual fighting against the state is considered to be a "terrorist" and is therefore *not* granted combatant-like status in the conflict (Ruys 2014). This furthers the incentives for groups in Syria to break the LOAC, as the Syrian Government Forces are not obliged to abide by IHL when facing insurgency groups (Ruys 2014). Given the fact that rebels are often fighting state governments with large capacities, abiding by the LOAC places a limitation on groups as they may view discriminate forms of violence as more challenging to engage in successfully (Wood 2010).

This thesis investigates factors that contribute to the likelihood that rebels' actions line up with their claims to abide by IHL. Rebel groups have incentives to lie, especially when accountability mechanisms in civil conflicts are lacking (Stanton 2020). Prior studies argue that given the relatively low percentage of rebel groups that make expressive commitments to international law, there must be costs associated with IHL commitments (Jo et al. 2021). Yet, these commitments lack precision, obligation, and delegation, since rebel groups are not legally bound to IHL in the same way as states who have ratified the Geneva Conventions (Jo et al. 2021). Therefore, rebel groups' expressed commitments may serve as a signal to international

actors that the group engages in state-like diplomatic conduct and respects humanitarian law. Given the potential benefits groups may gain from claiming adherence to international law, rebel groups may have incentives to lie about their values and genuine commitment to IHL. There is a gap in the existing literature regarding whether groups who commit to IHL norms actually abide by the LOAC in practice. Therefore, the present study investigates whether rebel groups' public commitments to IHL are mirrored in their conflict practices and the factors that contribute to this congruence or incongruence.

Theory

Typology of Compliance

Commitment to IHL is defined by scholars as "some expression of restraint in the conduct of warfare" (Jo and Niehaus 2018, 104). Compliance to IHL is "behavioral conformity to international rules and standards by rebel groups in civil conflicts (Jo 2015, 88). When analyzing why rebel groups would constrain themselves when they are not legally bound to do so, it is important to consider the potential benefits groups may gain from making public commitments. Rebel groups who have state-like goals and ambitions may strategically commit to IHL for the purposes of gaining respect from the international community (Jo 2015). In *Compliant Rebels*, Jo posits a typology of rebel group compliance, demonstrating that it may be more or less advantageous for rebel groups to comply with international law at various points in the conflict (2015). Jo categorizes rebel groups as persistent compliers, switchover compliers, and persistent non-compliers based on the presence and duration of compliance behavior throughout the conflict (2015). Jo finds that groups are more likely to publicly claim adherence to the LOAC if they have political aims, want support from domestic constituencies, or want support or recognition internationally from third party states and organizations (2015).

Since rebels have incentives to lie, it is important to consider how a group's messaging is related to a group's decision to abide by, or break, laws of conflict. Yet, given the fact that a rebel group is not obligated through international law to abide by the LOAC, why would a group publicly lie about adherence to the LOAC when their actions clearly contradict their public commitment? To investigate this question, I expand upon Jo's typology of compliance and categorize rebel groups into four categories, based on the presence of public IHL commitments and group conflict behaviors (see Table 1).

Table 1: Typology of Compliance & Messaging of Rebel Groups

	Compliance	Non-compliance
Public Commitments of Compliance	LEGITIMACY SEEKERS	RESOURCE SEEKERS
No Commitments of Compliance	LOCAL SUPPORT SEEKERS	REVISIONISTS

Groups that make public commitments of compliance to IHL, and whose actions in conflict reflect compliance, ultimately seek international legitimacy. Rebel groups who publicly commit to following the LOAC, whose actions contradict claims of compliance, ultimately seek resources to bolster their strength in the conflict. Groups who comply with the LOAC but fail to make any public commitments or messages about compliance ultimately seek local support.

Groups who do not make commitments to following IHL, and do not comply with the LOAC in

their actions ultimately seek a new system of international governance entirely, motivated by religious ideals and goals for territorial expansion.

Legitimacy Seekers

Legitimacy is extremely important to rebel groups seeking to overthrow the existing regime, as international recognition can help resolve disputed territories and increase public support for a rebel group (Stanton 2020). Therefore, groups may claim adherence to the LOAC because the group genuinely values international law, desires third party recognition, and has state-like goals. Given that rebel groups do not have opportunities to formally engage with IHL, groups may engage with the international legal system by making soft commitments and adopting existing language found in international agreements (Jo 2015). By demonstrating willingness to abide by IHL, albeit not obligated to, rebel groups signal their legitimacy to international actors (Stanton 2020). Legitimacy-seeking groups may be more likely to abide by their commitments because they care about perception and support from constituencies (Jo 2015). Groups whose post-conflict goals include obtaining governing authority benefit from gaining trust and respect from civilian populations. In this manner, rebel groups use restraint intentionally to attract support from civilians, Western governments and intergovernmental organizations (Jo 2015).

By publicly committing to uphold practices of IHL, rebel groups limit the types of violence they can engage in. Commitments to respect civilians require groups to utilize discriminatory forms of violence, which require more training, resources, and strategy in order to be successful (Wood 2010). Indiscriminate violence results in more civilian casualties but may be more effective at gaining a short-term victory against an opposing rebel group or against the

state regime (Bangerter 2011). Groups who make public commitments to IHL render themselves vulnerable to criticism from international actors if their conflict practices violate the LOAC they have agreed to (Jo and Thomson 2013).

If rebel groups are interested in building a positive reputation domestically, or internationally, one way to do so is by following through on commitments made in the agreements, declarations, doctrines, and statements mentioned earlier. Even when the state engages in conflict practices that do not align with international humanitarian law principles, rebel groups may prioritize building a positive reputation among civilians and internationally, in order to gain support for their movement (Bangerter 2011). Fighting against enemy forces that actively break the LOAC may cause short-term setbacks for groups. However, eventual recognition of the group's validity may outweigh short term disadvantages that occur in conflict. For secessionist movements, such as the Kurds, compliance with the LOAC is a strategic way to signal to international actors their respect for human rights (Fazal 2018; Jo 2015). Secessionist groups have strong incentives to abide by international norms and practices to achieve their longterm goal of state recognition (Fazal 2018). Targeting civilians would be counterproductive for secessionist groups for two reasons: 1) civilians closest in proximity to secessionist groups likely embody the population of their new state and 2) violating IHL would negatively impact the group's reputation among the international community, damaging long-term political aspirations (Fazal 2018). Scholars have found secessionist groups to be most likely to engage in international humanitarian law-making conventions for these reasons (Fazal 2018; Jo 2018). Based on the factors of legitimacy-seeking groups, I posit:

Hypothesis 1A: Rebel groups engaging in secessionist conflicts are more likely to make public claims of compliance and demonstrate patterns of compliance through actions in conflict.

Hypothesis 1B: Rebel groups engaging in actual attempts at overthrowing the state government, in the form of a true revolution, are more likely to make public claims of compliance and demonstrate patterns of compliance through actions in conflict.

Resource Seekers

Rebel groups strategically make public commitments and sign agreements with international organizations or NGO's to momentarily boost their reputation, with the hope of gaining support from third party sponsors (Fazal 2018). Rebel groups rely upon material resources to sustain their movement, especially in ongoing intrastate wars (Jo 2015). State and non-state actors can provide rebel groups with weaponry, funding, training, personnel, intelligence, among other resources. By making soft commitments to IHL, groups in need of resources have a higher likelihood of gaining the attention of third-party sponsors (Fazal 2018).

It is important to distinguish how resource-seekers differ from groups who seek legitimacy. While both groups make official commitments to international humanitarian law, the incentives to follow through on these commitments in conflict vary. Once sponsorship is gained and material resources are distributed, resource-seeking militant groups may feel less obligated to abide by their commitments, since their short-term goal is accomplished, and accountability mechanisms are weak. State sponsors, who are not physically present in the conflict, have challenges ensuring that groups abide by IHL commitments (Jo 2015). This causes groups to feel a lack of accountability as sponsors are far removed from day-to-day operations and are unaware of the use of tactics that harm civilians or violate other aspects of IHL. This physical distance,

coupled with the lack of accountability groups feel if the state government and opposing rebel groups are engaging in similar tactics, impacts the group's decision to violate their commitments to IHL. Prior research has found that rebel groups who commit for the purpose of attaining short-term benefits are likely to only comply for a short period of time, if at all (Jo 2015, 87). Jo explains how the Forces armées des forces Nouvelles (FAFN) in Côte d'Ivoire resumed using child soldiers after the group was taken off the UN's child soldier list, following the signing of the United Nations Action Plan of 2006 (2015, 87). The group's commitment to an aspect of IHL allowed them to gain the short-term benefit of being removed from an international accountability mechanism that highlights groups who violate laws of conflict, and once this was achieved, resumed using child soldiers (Jo, 2015, 87).

Incentives to break commitments are exacerbated when rebel groups are operating in conflicts with high group density, as the number of groups involved in the conflict may provide anonymity to groups, increasing the likelihood that violations against IHL will occur (De la Calle 2017). The number of groups involved may also increase the need for sponsorship, as groups have to spend resources fighting the state and opposing militias (Gade, Hafez, and Gabbay 2019). In battles that involve multiple groups, harm against civilians may be less attributable to one group in specific, allowing groups to feel less responsibility for their actions.

Rebel groups that are militarily weaker may perceive greater benefits to violence, as indiscriminate attacks utilize less resources and may be more effective at defeating rival groups (Stanton 2020). If groups are smaller, they may not have enough fighters to effectively engage in battles on the ground without using bombs, anti-personnel mines, and other forms of indiscriminately violence, which harm civilians. Groups who are weaker in a conflict may also be more desperate to engage in violent tactics, because they have adopted the mentality that they

have nothing else to lose (Bangerter 2011). These groups may utilize suicide bombing as a tactic to harm the opposition and increase the fear and instability in a conflict. Groups who are unable to fight the state militarily harm civilians in an effort to pressure the state government to act on their demands (Stanton 2020). Weaker insurgency groups may intentionally harm civilians to deter civilians from aiding opposition forces during territorial contestation (Stanton 2020). Groups harm civilians to send signals of the group's capacity in order to deter any potential defectors or government collaborators (Fazal 2018). These factors make it more likely that resource-seeking groups would claim compliance to IHL, while violating these laws in practice.

Groups that are already weaker relative to the opposition may struggle with voluntary recruitment from civilian populations, contributing to a group's decision to utilize coercion and/or recruitment of minors to gain militants (Stanton 2020). Groups lacking resources may be unable to pay militants, negatively impacting voluntary recruitment. The recruitment of child soldiers directly violates the LOAC outlined in the Geneva Conventions but remains a popular tactic among insurgency groups, as children are easier to recruit, coerce, intimidate, and exploit (Somasundaram 2002). Civilians are much more vulnerable to targeting from rebel groups who are not reliant upon the civilian population for aid or support (Fazal 2018).

Because of the incentives resource-seeking groups share, I posit:

Hypothesis 2A: Rebel groups who are relatively weaker to other groups in the conflict are more likely to claim adherence to the laws of conflict and demonstrate non-compliance patterns through their actions in conflict.

Hypothesis 2B: Rebel groups engaging in conflicts with high group density are more likely to have higher visibility, and claim adherence to laws of conflict while demonstrating non-compliance patterns through their actions in conflict.

Local Support Seekers

Local support seekers seem to comply with the LOAC outlined in the Geneva Conventions, yet do not make formal, public commitments to IHL. Rebel groups in this category have regional goals, which more heavily rely on the support of civilian populations. Groups that utilize restraint can broaden support among domestic constituencies (Jo, 2015). Insurgency groups that value or rely upon international support may need to demonstrate their willingness to uphold international humanitarian law through a public commitment, such as implementing human rights provisions in codes of conduct or utilizing social media to promote the group's values. Yet, groups that are not interested in national revolutions and are merely aiming to take over a region do not share the same incentives. Public commitments may be less important to a group if support from the international community is not crucial to the group's post-conflict aspirations. When post conflict aspirations are locally focused, the role of international actors is diminished (Bangerter 2011).

Groups who aim to control a specific region rely heavily on the opinions of the civilian and local population, as these are the constituents the group is aiming to govern. Scholars have found that some rebel groups, such as the Liberation Tigers of Tamil Eelam (LTTE) in Sri Lanka, engage in non-violent practices against civilians because they are dependent upon civilian support, which can take the form of neutral cooperation, non-betrayal to enemies, and providing information and intelligence (Lilja 2009). In an analysis of LTTE's methods in Sri Lanka, scholars found that the group mainly engaged in non-violent techniques aimed at spreading rebel propaganda and engaging civilians in LTTE civil service roles (Lilja 2009). When groups are reliant upon the civilian population for support, they are less likely to utilize violence as a tactic, as this is counterproductive to their post-conflict goals. Winning the respect of the local

population allows groups to build loyalty and trust in the communities they seek to govern (Bangerter 2011).

Groups who uphold the LOAC are better able to build rapport among the civilian population, especially when the state and competing groups are violating IHL (Wood 2010). Subsequently, greater support among constituents may increase the group's perceived power in the area, strengthening its bargaining position against the state (Jo 2015; Al-Hawat and Elhamoui 2015). By earning the support of civilians, groups are able to focus their efforts on regional control, as cooperation from civilians can help groups negotiate with the state or defeat opposing rebel groups (Bangerter 2011).

Based on the incentives of local support seekers, I posit:

Hypothesis 3: Rebel groups operating regionally, as opposed to nationally, are more likely to abide by laws of conflict in their actions without publicly claiming to do so.

Revisionists

Extensive variation exists among rebel groups regarding their incentives to uphold IHL (Fazal 2018; Jo 2015). Revisionists consist of groups who aim to change the international order entirely and choose not to engage with the existing international legal system. International law is heavily influenced by Western, democratic ideals which many revisionist groups actively denounce (Van Engeland 2008). Groups may feel as if existing institutions are not representative or inclusive of their beliefs, creating a desire for groups to operate under a different structure entirely (Fazal 2018). For instance, Western ideals traditionally uphold religion and state as separate institutions altogether, guaranteeing freedom of religious expression as a human right (Van Engeland 2008). However, revisionist groups may consider religion and state as fundamentally intertwined institutions, making it less likely for groups to want to engage with

the current international legal system. For instance, in Islam, freedom of religious expression can only occur within the limits of respect for the Sharia, conflicting with the interpretation of the right to freely express one's religion in Western countries (Van Engeland 2008). Scholars have highlighted that rebel groups who abide by religious law may have divine obligations that override IHL values, as groups view the divine as the main source of sovereignty (Fazal 2018; Van Engeland 2008). Groups who are motivated by ideological goals may believe it is their responsibility to spread divine beliefs globally, providing an incentive for global territorial expansion.

In contrast to groups who publicly commit to international humanitarian law, revisionist groups may actively denounce IHL with the goal of spreading the divine faith they ascribe to (Van Engeland 2008). For some Jihadist rebel groups, violence is a justifiable way to defend Islam and spread religious ideals (Van Engeland 2008). It is important to clarify that not all Jihadist groups operate the same, as jihad can justify a war against "unbelievers" or establish humanitarian rules and limits for battlefield practices (Van Engeland 2008). Some jihadist groups, such as ISIS and al-Qaeda, have transnational agendas and reject the existing international order, ultimately aiming to impose a stringent version of Islamic rule using force and violence (Fazal 2018; Hiltermann 2018). Since these groups reject IHL standards, violations of the LOAC are frequent, as groups justify the means they use to achieve their ultimate goal of spreading Islam (Fazal 2018). It is therefore unsurprising that groups who are invested in overturning the existing legal system commit atrocities more frequently – destroying cultural artifacts and harming civilians, as these actions are considered to be just by the perpetrators (Fazal 2018). Groups may view war as ethical and moral if it is waged in the defense of Islam, as

it is believed by religious groups such as ISIS, that "Islam is the bringer of peace to humanity" (Bangerter 2011; Van England 2008).

Groups who receive foreign aid from governments unconcerned by the group's IHL violations are less likely to make appeals to Western states, as they do not wish to operate under the existing framework of IHL. These groups determine that the benefits of utilizing violence to spread their beliefs ultimately outweigh any incentives for exercising restraint (Fazal 2018).

Because revisionists seek to operate under a different international system entirely, I posit:

Hypothesis 4A: Groups with strong religious motivations are more likely to abstain from claiming compliance to international law while actively breaking laws of conflict through their actions.

Hypothesis 4B: Groups with global territorial motivations are more likely to abstain from claiming compliance to international law while actively breaking laws of conflict through their actions.

Methods and Data

Because the primary contribution of this thesis is theoretical, I seek to conduct a plausibility probe to prove the validity of my theory. There is no dataset that exists to evaluate rebel groups' actions in conflict in comparison to their claims of commitment to IHL, and doing so would require creating a cross-national, group-year dataset, which is beyond the scope of an undergraduate thesis project. Researching and compiling data about rebel groups takes a substantial amount of time because data comes from a variety of sources including security reports, news media outlets, statements from rebel groups, reports by international NGO's, etc. In order to evaluate whether my hypotheses bear weight under scrutiny, I use process tracing to

determine whether my expectations of rebel groups in the Syrian conflict match their conflict behaviors.

The Syrian Civil War has hundreds to thousands of rebel groups actively involved in the decade-long conflict (Ghany, 2023). Furthermore, rebel groups in Syria offer significant variation in their post-conflict aims, ideological beliefs, capacity/resource strength, and thirdparty sponsorship (Gade, Hafez and Gabbay 2019). Institutions such as the International Committee of the Red Cross have openly reported concerns about the conflict's impact on civilians, as both the Syrian Government Forces and rebel groups have inflicted severe harm across Syrian communities and governorates (Ruys 2014). There have been more than 200,000 civilians killed and more than 14 million citizens displaced throughout the conflict (Ghany 2023). In Syria, insurgency groups vary in the ways in which they utilize media to communicate the group's goals and values (Gade et al. n.d.). Some groups publish founding doctrines which outline their principles and commitments to the LOAC, while other groups actively denounce IHL altogether. This allows for significant variation on the dependent variable, as groups hold different beliefs and incentives to abide by the LOAC. By comparing rebel groups within Syria, I am able to demonstrate how insurgency groups, even under similar conditions, vary in the ways in which they uphold IHL.

Before data collection began, I utilized prior research to generate scales of the independent variables central to the hypotheses being tested: relative group power, religious ideological beliefs, and territorial aims (see Appendix 1). Along with these scales, I utilized a coding guide with specific steps on how to categorize each variable based on the information found to decrease the likelihood that selection bias would impact my results (see Appendix 1). Information on rebel groups was mainly collected from security reports, media statements,

scholarly analysis of the conflict, group doctrines and unilateral declarations and statements, and UCDP data. After conducting in-depth research on groups, I categorized the groups utilizing the independent variable scales and analyzed the differences between group compliance behaviors. *Independent Variables*

Independent variables relative to the analysis conducted in this plausibility probe include state sponsorship, group power, and group ideological beliefs (political, religious, and territorial). In this study, relative group power is determined by the group's overall size and powerbroker status, which the ISW defines as a "group that has successful military operations against the Assad regime or ISIS, is strategically located and/or plays a leading role in governance" (Carafella and Casagrande, 2016). The ISW also has a potential powerbroker category, which is "a group that could achieve significant battlefield effects against Jabhat al Nusra and/or ISIS in western Syria upon receipt of increased outside support, including securing direct military gains and cohering other smaller brigades into new coalitions" (Carafella and Casagrande, 2016). Groups are categorized as powerbrokers and potential powerbrokers in the governorates in Syria in which they have the biggest impact. Therefore, powerbroker status and group size are used to demonstrate a group's level of influence and relative power in the conflict.

In order for a state to be considered a sponsor of a group, the state has to provide resources to the entirety of a group, as opposed to providing support to individual members.

State sponsorship needs to come from the government of a country as opposed to private individuals within a country. Once this condition is met, support then needs to occur in some sort of tangible manner, including material resources, training, verbal support, territory and intelligence.

Group ideology is measured across three scales, capturing the group's religious beliefs, political structure, and territorial aims (see Appendix 1). A group's political ideology is defined as the type of political order the group desires to implement post-conflict. Group religious ideology consists of how important it is that religion is embedded in the law and in the state post-conflict. A group's territorial ideology consists of their territorial aspirations and goals within/outside of the civil conflict. Ideology is captured across three scales to capture nuance in the ideological similarities and differences among rebel groups.

Dependent Variable

The dependent variable in this thesis is the presence or absence of claims of commitment to IHL and the conflict behaviors groups engage in, that either violate or abide by the LOAC. In this analysis, the presence of public commitments to abide by IHL is conceptualized as a binary choice by actors; groups either commit to follow aspects of IHL or they choose not to. The extent to which groups abide by their commitments and international humanitarian law more broadly is measured through violations of the LOAC outlined in the Geneva Conventions. The Uppsala Conflict Data Program (UCDP) tracks actors, organized violence, and fatalities within civil conflicts. In each profile of actors involved in a conflict, UCDP lists the number of deaths associated with each group and relevant location/year information but does not distinguish whether the fatalities totaled are solely civilians or whether combatant deaths are included in the total. Therefore, respect for civilian lives and for individuals no longer taking part in hostilities is measured through civilian death count (if UCDP data is available). The following indicators will also be captured to determine the extent to which groups violate IHL: the use of child soldiers, harm to medical/relief personnel, and treatment of prisoners of war.

Alternative Explanations

When utilizing process tracing, it is important to consider what alternative explanations exist that may explain or alter the relationship between the independent variable and dependent variable, before conducting analysis. Alternative factors that could explain why groups comply or fail to comply to the LOAC include: individual leader preferences who determine the values of a group; alliances with groups who have previously made commitments to IHL; foreign fighters who might be more willing to kill Syrian civilians; location of fighters who may be less willing to harm civilians in their own community; group hierarchical structure which may impact the ability of the group to control its members' actions. By actively looking for and evaluating paired comparisons for alternative explanations, I can better analyze the relationship between the independent and dependent variable.

In causal inference testing, it is crucial to establish what confirming and disconfirming evidence would entail before conducting analysis (Collier, 2011). For the "legitimacy seekers" hypothesis, disconfirming evidence includes secessionist groups harming civilians in the region they hope to gain control over, or groups seeking to gain international support using child soldiers or harming prisoners of war. Confirming evidence would consist of groups, namely secessionists, who engage with IHL through soft commitments, abiding by the LOAC even when they face state government forces or opposing rebel groups who violate these laws in practice. This would demonstrate that the group is willing to sacrifice conflict capabilities in order to gain validity and recognition from the international community.

When testing the "resource seekers" hypothesis, confirming evidence would be present if I find that groups who are smaller in size and/or are not classified as a powerbroker/potential powerbroker violate IHL commitments after gaining resources from state sponsors. Other types

of confirming evidence include: weaker groups violating IHL more frequently than powerbrokers; a higher proportion of child soldiers utilized by weaker groups. Smoking gun evidence of this theory would entail a group who violates IHL commitments when it first starts out in the conflict and is relatively weaker, but as it becomes a larger group with more resources and influence, the group commits less violations of the LOAC. Disconfirming evidence of the "resource seekers" theory would entail weaker groups abiding by IHL standards consistently, even after resources are gained from a third-party sponsor. Other pieces of disconfirming evidence include smaller, weaker groups making stronger connections to the local population and avoiding indiscriminate forms of violence.

Disconfirming evidence of the "local support seekers" hypothesis would entail a group, who seeks to gain control over a specific region, engaging in coercion and manipulation of civilians in order to gain power and territory. Other disconfirming evidence includes: groups with local aspirations harming or killing civilians, or engaging in the use of child soldiers. Confirming evidence of my theory would entail smaller groups who do not publicly commit to abiding by the LOAC building trust and support among civilians by providing resources, protection, shelter, etc., and respecting the LOAC even when facing opposition groups who openly violate these principles. An example of smoking gun evidence would entail a group who starts out smaller, with solely local aspirations and cooperates with civilians to gain resources and territory, abiding by the LOAC without making a public commitment to do so. As the group grows larger in capacity, and its interests expand to controlling an entire country as opposed to a region, the rebel group makes a public commitment to IHL to signal to international actors that the group values the international community and is willing to uphold the LOAC.

For revisionists, disconfirming evidence of my theory includes groups who are strongly religiously motivated, making public commitments to abide by the LOAC and demonstrating compliance through their conflict practices. Furthermore, disconfirming evidence of my theory entails groups who seek territorial expansion but appear to abide by the LOAC in practice, even when faced with opposition groups who violate the LOAC. If groups who are motivated by religious beliefs publicly commit to abiding by the LOAC, this demonstrates they seek to operate within the existing international order, weakening the logic of my theory. Confirming evidence of my theory entails if groups who are highly religious and motivated by territorial expansion actively denounce the LOAC and IHL and demonstrate noncompliance to these principles in conflict practices. Smoking gun evidence of my theory would entail a group who starts out religiously motivated to some extent but abides by the LOAC and respects civilian lives. If after undergoing a shift in ideological beliefs, the group becomes more extremist, seeks global territorial expansion, and begins actively killing civilians and breaking the LOAC, this would strengthen the logic of my theory.

Illustrative Examples: Syrian Rebel Groups

I consider the relationships between my proposed IVs and DVs for nine prominent rebel groups in the Syrian Civil War as a plausibility probe for this theoretical frame. All hypotheses were evaluated except for Hypothesis 3A, as it was challenging to find groups in the Syrian conflict who only had regional goals and was not interested in participating in the revolution against the regime. Groups were selected based on the variation they provide in group capacity, state sponsorship, political, religious and ideological beliefs, and the presence or absence of IHL commitments. Groups were categorized as legitimacy-seekers, resource-seekers, local-support

seekers, and revisionists based on the above variables. Groups in each category were evaluated to see if expectations of commitment and compliance behavior were met.

Table 2: Groups and Key Variable Indicators¹

Group	Group ID	Group Size	Power- broker	Potential Power- broker	State Sponsors	Ideol_ Religion	Ideol — Terr	Ideol_ Political	Civilian Death Count
Free Syrian Army	FSA	50,000	Aleppo (2016)	Qalamou n, Idlib, Latakia, Hama	Saudi Arabia, Qatar, Libya, USA, Great Britain, Turkey	3	1	1	1,968
Hazm Movement	HAZ M	5,000	n/a	n/a	USA	3	1	1	138
Ansar al- Sham Battalions	AASB	2,500	n/a	n/a	Saudi Arabia	3	1	1	Cannot Determine
Jaysh al- Islam	JAI	25,000	Damas cus	Idlib, Latakia, Homs, Quneitra, Daara	Saudi Arabia, Qatar, Turkey	4	1	2	948
Jund al- Aqsa	JAA	2,000	n/a	n/a		4	1	3	517
Al-Sham Legion	ASL	7,500	Aleppo	Idlib, Latakia	Saudi Arabia, Turkey, Qatar, USA	3	1	2	Cannot Determine
People's Protection Unit	YPG	60,000	n/a	n/a	USA, Russia	1	2	1	1,235

¹ The sources used when coding each group according to the ontology provided by the O/R Syria Project are listed in Appendix 2, separate from the references used throughout the thesis.

Islamic State and the Levant	ISIL	30,000	n/a	n/a	Iran	4	4	3	10,023
Al- Mujahidee n Army	AMB	6000	Aleppo	n/a	USA, Qatar, Turkey	3	1	2	41

Group Expectations

Although a smaller battalion, Ansar al-Sham formed early in the Syrian Civil Conflict, as a result of a merger of 11 battalions in the Latakia governorate of Syria (Mapping Militants 2017). The ultimate goal of Ansar al-Sham is to overthrow the Assad regime and establish a Sunni Islamic state in Syria. The group's intentional vagueness surrounding the specifics of the Islamic ideology it ascribes to allows it to build more support among local populations and within the international community (Hussein 2014). I expect this group to be a "legitimacy seeker" because the group relies upon its international reputation for state sponsorship and external resources. The group posts videos engaging in community building and commitment to public service, demonstrating to the international community and the local population that the group's goals should be supported and taken seriously. For these reasons, I categorize the group as a "legitimacy seeker."

The People's Protection Units (YPG) emerged in 2011 as a Kurdish militant group, with the primary goals of guaranteeing the rights of the Kurdish people in Syria and defeating the Islamic State and the Levant (ISIL) (Perry 2022). I expect this group to be a "legitimacy seeker" because the group is aiming to establish a fully autonomous Kurdish region in Syria, which is reliant upon support and state recognition from the international community. I expect the political priorities of the YPG to outweigh short-term gains they may receive from violating the LOAC.

The Free Syrian Army emerged in 2012 as a coalition of armed groups who advocate for a democratic and pluralistic Syria (Laub 2017). The group's ultimate goal is to defeat the Assad regime and gain governmental control post-conflict (Asal and Rethemeyer 2015). I expect the Free Syrian Army to be a "legitimacy seeker" because the group desires political control and relies upon support from the international community in order to gain power and validity in the conflict.

The Al-Sham Legion emerged as a coalition of moderate Islamist groups who similarly oppose the ideals and operations of the Islamic State and the Levant (Lefèvre and Yassir 2014). Previously associated with the Muslim Brotherhood, the Al-Sham Legion seeks to establish a better international reputation, where it is known as a coalition that promotes democracy and ends injustices perpetrated by extremist groups (Lefèvre and Yassir 2014). The group aims to take over territories controlled by ISIL and weaken their power and influence in Syria. For these reasons, I expect the Al-Sham Legion to be a "resource seeker" as the group relies upon state sponsorship for resources to accomplish its goals and operates in Aleppo, an area of Syria with high group density. Therefore, the group may feel as if it has higher visibility to violate the LOAC.

I expect the Al-Mujahideen Army to be a "resource seeker" because the group's ultimate goal is defeating the Islamic State of Iraq and the Levant (ISIL) and its reliance upon external resources to do so. The group strategically formed the first day of fighting against ISIL and consists of about 6,000 fighters, which is relatively weak in comparison to its rivals of ISIL and the Al-Nusrah Front (Perry 2014). The group has not discussed its goals of Syria post-conflict and instead, focused on broadcasting its short-term territorial gains and small wins against

opposition forces in interviews and media statements (Perry 2014). For these reasons, the group is categorized as a "resource seeker."

The Hazm Movement formed as a merger of twenty-two separate rebel groups in January 2014, with the goal of bringing down the Syrian regime and "seeking to restore the freedom and dignity of the Syrian people" (White 2014). I expect this group to be a "resource seeker" because it is relatively smaller than other groups in the conflict, with only about 5,000 fighters (Sly 2014). Although the group's founding leader, Abdullah Awda, publicly stated the group's goal for the new Syrian government is "a democratic state that rules over all of Syria with equality and freedom for all citizens, free of fascism and dictatorship," the group itself "does not work under the influence of politics" (Rupar, 2014). The leadership of the Hazm Movement describes the group as a military movement, with no intention of establishing ruling control over Syria in the post-conflict order (Rupar, 2014). The group relies on support from external sponsors to be military successful in the conflict, contributing to why I expect the Hazm Movement to be a "resource seeker" (White 2014).

Jund al-Aqsa (JAA) emerged in 2013 after splintering from Jabhat al-Nusra because of problems related to group capacity and resource strength (Mapping Militants 2019). It engaged in attacks as an autonomous organization against the regime and Alawite civilians (Mapping Militants 2019). The group's ultimate goal is to overthrow the Assad regime and implement a state based on Sharia, Islamic rule. The group believed in an Islamist caliphate and was sympathetic to the ideas expressed by the Islamic State and the Levant (Mapping Militants 2021). Through coding ideological statements of the group, I determined the JAA calls for the most extreme implementation of Sharia law in society. For these reasons, I expect the JAA to be

a revisionist group, as its justification of cleansing non-believers falls outside of the realm of IHL.

Jaysh al-Islam (JAI) was formed through a merger of fifty smaller groups in the Damascus area of Syria and its primary goals are overthrowing the Syrian regime and establishing a Sunni theocracy (Mapping Militants 2019). The group has publicly disapproved of secular democracies and the influence of Western governments on countries in the Middle East (Carafella and Casagrande 2016). The main leader of the group, Zahran Alloush, calls for a strict sharia-based Sunni theocracy and has expressed a desire to cleanse Damascus of all Shiites and Alawis (Mapping Militants 2019). For these reasons, I expect the group to engage in revisionist behavior.

The Islamic State in Iraq and the Levant (ISIL) is a Salafi-Jihadist militant organization that emerged in the early 2000s with the ultimate goal is to establish a global Islamist caliphate (Mapping Militants 2021). This group applies the Islamic concept of *takfir*, which includes excommunicating Muslims and declaring individuals "non-believers," to Shia Muslims, secular governments in the Middle East, governments partnered with Westernized institutions, and Sunni Muslim communities that reject a strict interpretation of Sharia law (Kirdar 2011). ISIL considers the aforementioned institutions and communities to be potentially enemies, which the group uses as a justification for the use of violence (Mapping Militants 2021). For these reasons, I expect ISIL to be a revisionist group.

Results & Discussion

Legitimacy Seekers

The political priority of the YPG is "guaranteeing the rights of the Kurdish people in Syria, legally and constitutionally" (Perry 2014). In order to accomplish the group's larger

objective of establishing an independent Kurdish state, the YPG engages with the international community through soft IHL commitments (Center for Preventative Action 2023). The People's Protection Units (YPG) signed several Deeds of Commitments under Geneva Call including the protection of children in armed conflict, the prohibition of sexual violence in armed conflict and adherence to a total ban on Anti-Personnel Mines (Geneva Call 2014). After expressing these commitments, the YPG gained international attention and support by the United States, who has provided air support, material resources, and training throughout the conflict (Portez 2020). The United States sponsored YPG, among other opposing rebel factions, in an effort to prevent the expansion and influence of ISIL (Portez 2020). The Syrian Human Rights Report attributes 1,235 civilian deaths to the People's Protection Units, demonstrating how the YPG does not abide by IHL to the extent it claims to (SNHR 2021). In a report released by the UN Commission of Inquiry in 2018, the YPG is accused of conscripting children in their battalions against their will, which violates the LOAC (Lund 2016).

This is disconfirming evidence of Hypothesis 1A, as I posited that groups who value international support, and specifically, rely on international support for state recognition in secessionist movements, are unlikely to violate the LOAC. Despite engaging in a secessionist movement and relying on the support of external sponsors such as the United States, the YPG violates the LOAC through the killing of civilians in battle, and the use of child soldiers (Perry 2017). Yet, confirming evidence of my theory includes the response of the YPG following the release of the report. YPG leaders responded with a letter to Human Rights Watch, promising to demobilize child soldiers and to punish officers who contributed to the violations of IHL perpetuated by militants within the YPG (Yisti 2020). In a separate declaration, the YPG urges militants to stop employing child soldiers -- representing that the group cares to some extent

about its international reputation as the group leaders repeatedly attempt to clarify the intentions and values of the group (Geneva Call 2014).

The Free Syrian expressed commitments to international humanitarian law both through internal rules and regulations and signed unilateral declarations and statements (Geneva Call 2014). At the group's unification meeting, leaders created a code of conduct that respects human rights and explicitly prohibits violence against civilians and activists; physical torture or murder of prisoners or informants; practices of rape, mutilation or degradation for prisoners of war; the use of death or corporal punishment; and practices of theft or looting (Geneva Call 2014). The Local Coordination Committees are tasked with spreading the code of conduct to existing militants and require new battalions and fighters to sign onto the code before officially becoming a part of the Free Syrian Army (Geneva Call 2014). In addition to the code and conduct, the Free Syrian army also released a declaration which "pledges to abide by the law of war when fighting the Syrian regime and its allies, which includes the four Geneva Conventions and the Additional Protocols Therein" (Geneva Call "Declaration" 2016). Along with these expressed commitments, various factions of the Free Syrian Army have signed specific deed of commitments under the Geneva Call for the protection of children and for the prohibition of sexual violence.

This endeavor expanded the militant size of the Free Syrian Army, which totaled around 50,000 fighters, making the FSA the largest opposition to the Syrian regime (Asal and Rethemeyer, 2015). The Free Syrian Army's ultimate goal is to create a democratic and pluralistic Syria (Laub 2017). Based on the IHL commitments expressed by the FSA and the group's potential to beat opposing groups and the state government forces, multiple state sponsors provided resources and funding to the FSA, including Turkey, Saudi Arabia, Qatar, and Libya (Asal and Rethemeyer, 2015; Lister 2016). Britain and the United States also provided

non-lethal aid and training to the FSA, but shortly discontinued support due to concerns that less moderate factions of the FSA were utilizing resources. The discontinuation of support represents confirming evidence of my theory, which posits that state sponsors will provide material resources to groups whose conflict practices match IHL commitments and values.

When comparing FSA's commitments to their conflict practices, human rights organizations and the UN Commission of Inquiry (COI) for Syria have repeatedly found human rights violations perpetrated by factions of the Free Syrian Army (United States Department of State 2020). According to UCDP data, 1,968 deaths are attributable to the Free Syrian Army (Davies, Pettersson, and Öberg 2022). Along with civilian deaths, early in the conflict in a report issued by the UN COI, officials found that 60% of child soldiers involved in the Syrian conflict were part of Free Syrian Army brigades (Eliason 2021). The FSA responded to allegations of the use of child soldiers by signing a Deed of Commitment claiming to protect children in armed conflict and declared they would no longer be utilizing child soldiers in any of their brigades (Geneva Calls 2016). Despite this expressed commitment, journalists conducting interviews of child soldiers in the Syrian conflict found that the majority of soldiers ages 14 to 17 belonged to branches of the Free Syrian Army in Daraa, Homs, and Idlib (Matt 2016). The children interviewed explained how they do not receive steady wages from FSA leaders and seldomly receive payment for fighting on the front lines (Matt 2016). In areas controlled by the Syrian government forces, FSA brigades have utilized indiscriminate shelling in an attempt to gain territorial control – resulting in civilian deaths and injuries (Idris, 2017). After the rebranding of the FSA as the Syrian National Army (SNA) in 2019, human rights violations perpetrated by the group worsened (Hamit and Zontur 2019). According to the Syrian Network for Human Rights, the SNA has arbitrarily detained at least 162 civilians and engages in torture, abduction, and illtreatment of detainees to extract "confessions" (Roth 2022). The UN COI found that SNA members engage in torture and sexual assault of minors in its investigation of SNA detention facilities (U.S. Syria Embassy 2021). SNA fighters have been found to loot, steal, and coerce civilians to flee their homes, in order to gain resources and shelter (United States Department of State 2020).

The FSA's repeated violations of IHL provide disconfirming evidence of Hypothesis 1B, which posits that groups with true revolutionary aims are more likely to abide by their IHL commitments, because they value support and validity from the international community. While I initially believed the FSA operated as a unified coalition, further research suggests that leadership in the FSA is weak and decentralized, as militants are not subjected to accountability mechanisms by local commanders (Asal and Rethemeyer 2015). While the SMC of the FSA and its founding leaders may have genuinely believed in the IHL commitments made, it is challenging to enforce these commitments among thousands of fighters in different battalions. According to principle-agent theory, insurgency groups with weak centralized control are more likely to commit violations of the LOAC as tactical decisions are delegated to militants, who have greater incentives to harm civilians for personal benefit (Abrahms et al. 2015). The disconfirming evidence provided in the case of the FSA demonstrates the scope of my theory — as expectations may only be met when analyzing individual groups, as opposed to coalitions.

Ansar al-Sham informally commits to IHL by condemning the violence against civilians perpetrated by ISIL and posting videos highlighting the group's commitment to providing local humanitarian aid (Hussein 2014). The group delivers humanitarian relief to displaced civilians and families and has white tents with the Ansar al-Sham logo displayed in the areas the group has control over (Hussein 2014). The group's decision to highlight its humanitarian aid through

its Youtube channel and media services demonstrate its desire to show the international community, along with local constituencies, its respect for IHL (Hussein 2014). The group appears to gain support of local populations through its humanitarian relief programs as civilians describe the group favorably when interviewed by journalists (Hussein 2014). This favorable view may be due to the fact that commanders of the Ansar al-Sham do not actively engage in religious indoctrination of civilians and opposing groups. Instead, the group delivers religious lectures to local communities, but does not force civilians to convert to their beliefs (Hussein 2014). The humanitarian relief to civilians facilitated by the Ansar al-Sham provides confirming evidence for Hypothesis 1B, as my expectation is that groups who wish to govern post-conflict will build trust among constituents. The Ansar al-Sham received financial support from Saudi Arabia, however, it is unclear whether this was as a result of the IHL commitments made (Mapping Militants 2017). UCDP data is not available for Ansar al-Sham, making it challenging to determine the extent to which the group upholds the LOAC. However, journalists report that the militants of the Ansar al-Sham are all local, which may impact the motivations rebels have to commit atrocities against civilians in the areas they consider to be home (Hussein 2014). The group does not engage in coercion or the use of child soldiers, as recruitment strategies are effective because militants in Ansar al-Sham receive a salary of about \$60 per month (Hussein 2014). For these reasons, it is likely that Ansar al-Sham did not engage in conflict practices that harm civilians, but additional data is needed to confirm this conclusion.

Resource Seekers

The Hazm Movement made public commitments to IHL through its signed deeds of commitment under Geneva Call for the prohibition of sexual violence and adherence to total ban on anti-personnel mines, which include victim-activated explosive devices (Geneva Call 2014).

The Hazm Movement carefully branded itself through media interviews and statements as a military group with the ultimate goal of toppling the regime and prioritizing freedom in the post-conflict order. The leader of the group, Abdullah Awda's, public statements about the future of Syria, along with the IHL commitments the Hazm Movement expressed through unilateral declarations, attracted attention from interested third party sponsors (White, 2014). The Hazm Movement was one of the first rebel groups to gain support from the United States, with the U.S. providing nonlethal American aid (vehicles and medical supplies) after vetting the political beliefs, associations with fellow groups, and capacities of the Hazm Movement (Sly 2014). Along with nonlethal aid, the United States, as part of the "Friends of Syria" Western alliance provided TOW antitank missiles and funding for the group (Sly 2014). Support from external sponsors as a result of expressed IHL commitments provide confirming evidence of my theoretical expectation that state sponsors will fund groups who align with their IHL values.

When comparing the Hazm Movement's IHL commitments to conflict practices, the UCDP attributes 138 deaths in total to the Hazm Movement, demonstrating that the group violated their IHL commitments to some extent (Davies, Pettersson, and Öberg 2022). Aside from harming civilians, existing reports and interviews on the rebel group fail to articulate any violations of the LOAC perpetuated by the group (Davies et al. 2000, Sly 2014; White 2014; Rupar 2014). The group did not engage in the use of child soldiers, as the recruitment process for militants require interviews and formal military training (Sly 2014). The actions of the Hazm Movement provide some confirming evidence for Hypothesis 2A, as the group received aid from the United States as a result of expressed commitments to IHL and gained a reputation internationally for being a moderate group worthy of international support and attention (White 2014). It appears as if, despite expressed commitments, the Hazm Movement did engage in a

form of violence that harms civilians, demonstrating that weaker groups violate their IHL commitments to some extent. However, more confirming evidence would be needed to fully demonstrate the relationship between group capacity and the likelihood of abiding by IHL commitments.

The Al-Sham Legion publicly commits to IHL through signed Deeds of Commitment for the protection of children from the effects of armed conflict and for the protection of health care in armed conflict (Geneva Call). In interviews, the group's leader cites the goals of the group include "ending injustices by extremist groups, promoting democracy and defending religion" (Lefèvre and Yassir 2014). The group desires unification among Syrian moderate Islamists and is part of a network of rebel groups sponsored by the Commission for the Protection of Civilians (Lefèvre and Yassir 2014). The coalition of groups that embody the Al-Sham Legion banded together, in part, to distance themselves from the Muslim Brotherhood, in order to attract sponsorship from Saudi Arabia, and subsequently gain more resources and power in the conflict (Lefèvre and Yassir 2014). This strategy proved to be successful, as Saudi Arabia, among Turkey and the United States, provided funding and material resources to the group (Cafarella and Casagrande 2016). In terms of their conflict behaviors, little information is known about the extent to which the Al-Sham Legion violated the LOAC as UCDP data is unavailable. However, in one of the security centers of the group, a civilian named Al-Nuaimi was tortured to death by Al-Sham militants because they falsely believed he was working for the People's Protection Units (Human Rights Journalism 2022). This demonstrates that to some extent, the Al-Sham Legion violated the LOAC despite prior IHL commitments, as militants used abusive practices in security centers. The group's leadership publicly admitted to the death of al-Nuaimi, apologizing to his family and arresting the interrogation committee and members in charge of the security

center where the crime occurred (Human Rights Journalism 2022). The immediate response of the group's leadership demonstrates the group values its IHL reputation and wants to hold militants accountable for their actions. Since it is unclear the extent to which the Al-Sham Legion violates IHL, it is challenging to connect the group's conflict behaviors to their IHL commitments. However, some evidence of my Hypothesis 2AB is confirmed, as the group admitted to rebranding as a coalition with the ultimate purpose of receiving sponsorship and resources from state sponsors (Lefèvre and Yassir 2014).

The Al-Mujahideen Army endorsed human rights in its charter and the group's leader, Colonel Muhammad Bakour, showed willingness to engage with IHL by attending the Riyadh opposition conference and maintaining support of the High Negotiations Commission delegation throughout meetings with UN Special Envoy (Cafarella and Casagrande, 2016). Leaders of the Al-Mujahideen Army publicly stated in interviews their desire to implement a post-Assad Syrian State that guarantees the protection of minority rights (Cafarella and Casagrande, 2016). These actions demonstrated the group's beliefs in IHL, contributing to the decision of the United States to provide funding, material resources and training for the group (Cafarella and Casagrande 2016; Perry 2014). After completing training from U.S. soldiers in Qatar, militants in the Al-Mujahideen Army returned with a better understanding of conflict tactics needed to defeat opposition forces (Perry 2014). This sponsorship helped the group become more skilled in battles against the Islamic State, but the leader of the Al-Mujahideen Army stated that without additional training or arms support, they will not be able to effectively defeat ISIL forces (Perry 2014). When comparing the group's commitments to IHL to their conflict practices, the UCDP attributes 41 civilian deaths to the Al-Mujahideen Army (Davies, Pettersson, and Öberg 2022). Information related to violations of IHL perpetrated by the group is scarce, yet, militants in the

Al-Mujahideen army forced a Christian humanitarian activist to wear a hijab while knowing her religious beliefs (Dark 2014). When she refused, fights broke out among activists and militants, and she was arrested and taken to a rebel Sharia court (Dark 2014). She remained unharmed and was eventually freed, but only after signing an agreement to wear a hijab moving forward (Dark 2014). The commander of the Al-Mujahideen army issued an apology for the actions caused by his militants, but the ruling still took effect (Dark 2014).

Confirming evidence of my expectation in Hypothesis 2B includes the violation of the group's commitment to uphold minority rights (Dark 2014). Because the Al-Mujahideen army operates in Aleppo, an area of Syria with high group density, the group may be more likely to break IHL commitments because of high visibility in the conflict. Disconfirming evidence of my theoretical expectations include the group's activity in local governance efforts, as the group engages in community building and was a founding member of the Sharia Court of Aleppo and its countryside (Perry 2014). The group's positive engagement with local populations goes against my expectations in Hypothesis 2B.

Revisionists

The actions of Jaysh al-Islam reflect my expectations of a revisionist group, as outlined in Hypotheses 4A and 4B. Unsurprisingly, there is no record of any IHL commitments signed by JAI leaders, as the group openly stated its distrust in Westernized institutions and governments (Mapping Militants 2019). According to data collected from UCDP, 948 deaths are attributable to JAI (Davies, Pettersson, and Öberg 2022). While the group's founding leader, Zahran Alloush, originally expressed a desire to cleanse the Damascus area of all Shiites and Alawis, Alloush later stated that the group tolerates criticism from resident civilians in the area it controls (Mapping Militants 2019). Yet, residents interviewed in the Eastern Ghouta area told journalists

that JAI imposes extremely repressive policies, arresting anyone who opposes or criticizes the group (Al-Dimashqi 2016). JAI controlled the Al-tawba prison and frequently tortured and imprisoned civilians who criticized the group in any manner, including children under the age of 16 (Al-Dimashqi 2016). Journalists who have spoken out against JAI have received death threats and have been forced to go into hiding to avoid retaliation from the group (Al-Dimashqi 2016). The group is also suspected to be responsible for the disappearance of human rights activists, which has led to multiple complaints of the group filed by human rights organizations, including the International Federation for Human Rights (FIDH), the Syrian Center for Media and Freedom of Expression (SCM) and the Ligue des Droits de L'Homme (LDH) (McDonald and al-Aswad 2022).

The SCM has provided human rights groups with documents, testimonies, videos, and pictures of the war crimes perpetrated by JAI, clearly indicting the leaders of the group in the planning and execution of these IHL violations. This provides confirming evidence of Hypotheses 4A and 4B as revisionist groups are not expected to abide by existing IHL norms, since these groups seek to establish a different international order entirely. Alloush's initial rejection of individuals who do not ascribe to the strict Sunni Islam beliefs of JAI demonstrates how religious beliefs can be used to justify cleansing an area or region of "non-believers" leading to additional violence (Militant Mapping 2019). The leader of JAI, Islam Alloush, was arrested in France on charges related to torture, war crimes and forced disappearances - becoming one of the first rebel groups in the Syrian Civil War to see international action because of a group's violation of IHL (Kaijo, 2020).

Similarly to JAI, Jund al-Aqsa did not make any commitments to IHL and their conflict behaviors demonstrate the group does not abide by the LOAC, providing confirming evidence for Hypothesis 4A. The UCDP profile of Jund al-Aqsa attributes 517 deaths to conflict behaviors perpetrated by the group and states that it is one of the Syrian insurgency groups who engages in one-sided violence (Davies, Pettersson, and Öberg 2022). In their first major attack, the militants of Jund al-Aqsa attacked civilians and Syrian government forces in the Alawite-majority village of Maan in the Hama province, killing at least sixty civilians (Militant Mapping 2019; UN Security Council 2014). After this attack, the United States Department officially designated the group as terrorists, in an effort to notify the international community that the group engages in behaviors that violate the LOAC (UN Security Council 2014). The group repeatedly targets Alawite civilians and moderate groups who claim militants in Jund al-Aqsa are apostates (Militant Mapping 2019). The tactics the group engages in reflect violations of the LOAC as the group uses suiciding bombing, execution of prisoners, and extrajudicial killings of civilians because of their religious view (Reuters 2016). The actions of Jund al Aqsa provide confirming evidence of my theoretical expectations for revisionists, as this group justifies its use of violence for the greater purpose of spreading Islam and establishing a Sunni Islamic state based on Sharia law (Militant Mapping 2019).

The Islamic State and the Levant actively denounces Westernized institutions and international law (Militant Mapping 2021). Subsequently, the group has committed substantial atrocities against civilians in Syria, violating the LOAC to a great extent (Laub 2023). UCDP data attributes 10,023 civilian deaths to the Islamic State in the Levant, stating that the group is a perpetrator of one-sided violence in the conflict (Davies, Pettersson, and Öberg 2022). In areas under ISIL control, the group enforced oppressive laws against local communities, persecuting non-Sunni religious groups and citizens, along with queer people and secular leaders (Kirdar 2014). ISIL has engaged in a variety of military tactics that violate the LOAC, including suicide

bombings, abductions and extrajudicial executions, torture, the use of IEDs, among other violent means (Militant Mapping 2021). The group uses brutal acts of violence against journalists or aid workers from Western countries, such as the United States, to gain popularity among their supporters and prove their capabilities. As opposed to the leaders of resource-seeking and legitimacy-seeking groups who apologized for the violent actions of their militants, ISIL uses videos and images of beheadings and torture as a way to spread their beliefs and intimidate opposition groups (Yourish 2015). The actions of ISIL align with my expectations of the group in Hypothesis 4A and 4B, as their religious beliefs and global territorial aspirations are used as a justification to perpetrate violence against non-believers and violate the LOAC.

Summary of Expectations

Confirming evidence was found consistently for Hypotheses 4A and 4B, which posited that groups with strong religious motivations and global territorial aspirations are more likely to reject IHL and violate the LOAC. While this evidence does not confirm the relationship between the IVs and DVs, it does highlight that my theoretical expectations hold some weight under a closer analysis. For Hypotheses 2A and 2B, there was some confirming evidence, as groups claimed commitments to IHL and violated those commitments in practice, after receiving resources from external sponsors. However, limited data was available for some groups analyzed, making it challenging to fully determine the extent to which group capacity contributed to my expectations for resource-seeking groups. For Hypotheses 1A and 1B, disconfirming evidence highlighted that my theory of legitimacy seekers may be limited in scope and solely apply to individual groups and battalions, as opposed to coalitions. However, YPG and FSA repeatedly condemned IHL violations by their own militants, demonstrating these groups care about their international reputation to some extent.

Conclusion

The incentives of rebel groups in civil conflicts influence both the likelihood that groups will make public commitments to IHL and the likelihood that groups will follow through with their commitments and abide by the LOAC. While not empirically tested in this study, the initial plausibility probe demonstrates interactions between a group's motivations and their subsequent adherence or lack thereof to the LOAC. Groups who are strongly motivated by religious beliefs and global territorial aspirations are more likely to reject IHL altogether and violate the LOAC, based on the initial expectations met in this analysis. Groups who claim adherence to IHL in the hope of gaining resources may be less likely to abide by their commitments in practice. Groups who seek legitimacy need centralized leadership and accountability mechanisms in place to hold militants accountable of violations of the LOAC. Prior research has assumed that groups share similar motivations in conflict, negatively impacting our ability to decipher the reasons why some groups make commitments with no intention of following them, while others are genuine in their commitment to IHL. This thesis provides a theoretical contribution to the literature by explaining how motivations of groups are related to commitment and compliance patterns and categorizing groups as legitimacy-seekers, resource-seekers, local support-seekers, and revisionists.

Existing data on rebel group compliance to IHL lacks accuracy, as large N studies have challenges quantifying the myriad of human rights violations that occur during civil war (Clarkand and Sikkink 2013). This thesis provides a novel contribution by conducting in-depth analysis that accurately compares theoretical expectations to the IHL commitments and conflict behaviors of nine rebel groups in the Syrian Conflict. Initial analysis justifies a larger, empirical

study and the creation of a cross-national, group-year dataset of rebel group commitments to IHL and subsequent compliance behaviors.

This study has a few limitations that should be addressed in future research of rebel groups and IHL. This analysis does not account for switchover or "flip flopping" compliance behavior of rebel groups, as this is outside the scope of my theory, which assumes independent variables remain relatively stable over the course of conflict. However, analyzing whether groups change the extent to which they abide or fail to abide by the LOAC based off of the conflict's progression may yield important insights about the variables during conflict that affect group decision-making. Future research could compare groups who remain relatively stable in their compliance patterns to groups who demonstrate switchover compliance to determine what variables impact the durability of IHL compliance. This study does not account for the extent to which rebel groups commit to IHL and whether the types of commitments expressed (informal comments in interview vs. unilateral declaration and statement) impact the likelihood that groups will abide by the LOAC. The way groups commit to IHL may affect international support and the degree to which groups feel a sense of accountability to abide by their commitments.

Understanding the factors that contribute to a group's decision to abide by IHL commitments is beneficial for decision-making by international organizations and state sponsors. When rebel groups receive aid and support from third parties, they become more powerful and the decisions the group makes can negatively impact civilians and extend conflict duration. If scholars can better understand what influences a group's decision to express commitment to IHL and abide by these commitments in practice, IHL can be improved to allow for better engagement with IHL by non-state actors. By better understanding the factors that influence a group's likelihood of IHL compliance, international humanitarian lawmakers can develop laws

that directly apply to non-state actors, create incentives for compliance, and include accountability mechanisms, minimizing the harmful impact civil wars have on civilians. This study yields insight into some of the factors that impact rebel group compliance with IHL commitments, justifying a larger, quantitative study of rebel groups cross-nationally to determine which factors are most important at influencing rebel compliance behaviors with IHL.

References

- Abrahms, Max, and Philip B. K. Potter. 2015. "Explaining Terrorism: Leadership Deficits and Militant Group Tactics." *International Organization* 69(2): 311–42.
- Al-Hawat, Sinan and Elhamoui, Wisam. 2015. "Local Engagement with Armed Groups: In the Midst of Violence." *Accord Issue Insight 2*. https://www.c-r.org/accord/engaging-armed-groups-insight/syria-civilian-interaction-armed-groups-syrian-conflict (November 22, 2022).
- Al-Dimashqi, Youmna. 2016. "Iron Rule" Jaish al-Islam in Eastern Ghouta." *The New Humanitarian*.
 - https://deeply.thenewhumanitarian.org/syria/articles/2016/03/22/iron-rule-jaish-al-islam-in-eastern-ghouta (January 16, 2023).
- Asal, Victor, and Rethemeyer, Karl. 2015. "Project on Violent Conflict Free Syrian

 Army." National Consortium for the Study of Terrorism and Responses to Terrorism.

 https://www.start.umd.edu/baad/narratives/free-syrian-army.html (September 18, 2023).
- Bangerter, Olivier. 2011. "Reasons Why Armed Groups Choose to Respect International Humanitarian Law or Not." *International Review of the Red Cross* 93(882): 353–84.
- Carafella, Jennifer and Casagrande, Genevieve. 2016. "Middle East Security Report 29: Syrian Armed Opposition Powerbrokers." *Institute for the Study of War.* 7-47.
- Cassese, Antonio. 1984. "The Geneva Protocols of 1977 on the Humanitarian Law of Armed Conflict and Customary International Law." *UCLA Pacific Basin Law Journal* 3: 55–118.
- Clapham, Andrew. 2006. "Human Rights Obligations of Non-State Actors in Conflict Situations." *International Review of the Red Cross* 88(863): 491–523.

- Clark, Ann Marie, and Sikkink, Kathryn. 2013. "Information Effects and Human Rights Data: Is the Good News About Increased Human Rights Information Bad News for Human Rights Measures?" *Human Rights Quarterly* 35(3): 539–68.
- Davies, Shawn, Therese Pettersson and Magnus Öberg. 2022. "Organized violence 1989-2021 and Drone Warfare." *Journal of Peace Research* 59(4).
- De la Calle, Luis. 2017. "Compliance vs. Constraints: A Theory of Rebel Targeting in Civil War." *Journal of Peace Research* 54(3): 427–41.
- DeYoung, Karen. 2014. "Syrian Opposition Fighters Obtain U.S.-Made TOW Antitank Missiles." *Washington Post*.
- Downes, Alexander B. 2007. "Draining the Sea by Filling the Graves: Investigating the Effectiveness of Indiscriminate Violence as a Counterinsurgency Strategy." Civil Wars 9(4): 420–44.
- Eliason, Hannah. 2021. "Reducing Numbers of Child Soldiers in Syria." *The Borgen Project. https://borgenproject.org/tag/child-soldiers-in-syria/* (February 12, 2023).
- Fazal, Tanisha M. 2017. "Rebellion, War Aims & the Laws of War." *Daedalus* 146(1): 71–82.
- Gade, Emily et al. Forthcoming. "Rebel Group Consolidation Project & Quantitative Analysis."

 Working Paper.
- Gade, Emily Kalah, Mohammed M Hafez, and Michael Gabbay. 2019. "Fratricide in Rebel Movements: A Network Analysis of Syrian Militant Infighting." *Journal of Peace Research* 56(3): 321–35.
- Geneva Call. 2012. "Code of Conduct of the Free Syrian Army."

 http://theirwords.org/?country=SYR&ansa=134 (September 22, 2022).
- Geneva Call. 2016. "Declaration of the Free Syrian Army."

- http://theirwords.org/?country=SYR&ansa=134 (January 12, 2022).
- Geneva Call. 2014. "Statement of the Free Syrian Army about the Recruitment of Child Soldiers." http://theirwords.org/?country=SYR&ansa=134 (October 21, 2022).
- Geneva Call. 2014. "Statement of the FSA Calling for the Immediate Demilitarization of Schools and Hospitals." http://theirwords.org/?country=SYR&ansa=134 (October 21, 2022).
- Geneva Call. 2014. "Free Syrian Army Proclamation of Principles."

 http://theirwords.org/?country=SYR&ansa=134 (November 6, 2022).
- Geneva Call. 2014. "Deed of Commitment under Geneva Call for the Prohibition of Sexual
- Violence in Situations of Armed Conflict and Towards the Elimination of Gender Discrimination

 Hazm Movement." http://theirwords.org/?country=SYR&ansa=262 (January 19, 2023).
- Geneva Call. 2014. "Deed of Commitment under Geneva Call for Adherence to a Total Ban on Anti-Personnel Mines and for Cooperation in Mine Action Hazm Movement."
 - http://theirwords.org/?country=SYR&ansa=262 (January 15, 2023).
- Ghany, Fadel Abdul. 2023. "The 12th Annual Report of the Syrian Civil War." *Syrian Network* for Human Rights. https://snhr.org/blog/2023/03/15/on-the-12th-anniversary-of-the-popular-uprising-a-total-of-230224-civilians-documented-as-dead-including-15275-who-died-due-to-torture-154871-arrested-and-or-forcibly-disappeared-and-roughly-14/">https://snhr.org/blog/2023/03/15/on-the-12th-anniversary-of-the-popular-uprising-a-total-of-230224-civilians-documented-as-dead-including-15275-who-died-due-to-torture-154871-arrested-and-or-forcibly-disappeared-and-roughly-14/
 (March 15, 2023).
- Green, Amelia Hoover. 2018. The Commander's Dilemma: Violence and Restraint in Wartime.

 Cornell University Press.
- Hamit, Dilara and Zontur, Erdogan Cagatay. 2019. "Free Syrian Army Transforms into Syrian National Army." https://www.aa.com.tr/en/middle-east/free-syrian-army-transforms-into-syrian-national-army/1607384 (January 28, 2023).

- Human Rights Watch. 2019. "Syria: Civilians Abused in 'Safe Zones.""

 https://www.hrw.org/news/2019/11/27/syria-civilians-abused-safe-zones (October 21, 2022).
- Human Rights Watch. 2021. "Syria: Events of 2021." https://www.hrw.org/world report/2022/country-chapters/syria (January 22, 2023).
- Idris, Iffat. 2017. "International Humanitarian Law and Human Rights Violations in Syria. *K4D Helpdesk Report*. Brighton, UK: Institute of Development Studies.

 https://opendocs.ids.ac.uk/opendocs/handle/20.500.12413/13087?show=full (January 15, 2023).
- International Committee of the Red Cross (ICRC). 2010. "The Geneva Conventions of 1949 and Their Additional Protocols." *ICRC*. https://www.icrc.org/en/doc/war-and-law/treaties-customary-law/geneva-conventions/overview-geneva-conventions.htm (September 12, 2022).
- Jo, Hyeran. 2015. Compliant Rebels: Rebel Groups and International Law in World Politics. 1st ed. Cambridge University Press.

 https://www.cambridge.org/core/product/identifier/9781316273142/type/book
 (September 26, 2022).
- Jo, Hyeran, Joshua K. Alley, Yohan Park, and Soren Jordan. 2021. "Signaling Restraint:

 International Engagement and Rebel Groups' Commitment to International Law."

 International Interactions 47(5): 928–54.
- Jo, Hyeran, and John Niehaus. 2018. "Through Rebel Eyes: Rebel Groups, Human Rights, and Humanitarian Law." *Law and Contemporary Problems* 81(4).
- Jo, Hyeran, and Catarina P. Thomson. 2014. "Legitimacy and Compliance with International

- Law: Access to Detainees in Civil Conflicts, 1991-2006." *British Journal of Political Science* 44(2): 323–55.
- Katt, Mais. 2016. "Children Are Fighting on All Sides of Syria's War." *The New Humanitarian*.

 https://deeply.thenewhumanitarian.org/syria/articles/2016/06/28/children-are-fighting-on-all-sides-of-syrias-war (December 21, 2022).
- Kajjo, Sirwan. 2020. "Rights Groups Allege Syrian Rebel Leader Arrested in France Committed War Crimes." VOA Extremism Watch.

 https://www.voanews.com/a/extremism-watch_rights-groups-allege-syrian-rebel-leader-arrested-france-committed-war-crimes/6183649.html (January 24, 2023).
- Kirdar, MJ. 2011. "AQAM Futures Project Case Studies Series: Al Qaeda in Iraq." *Publication Center for Strategic and International Studies*.
- Laub, Zachary. 2017. "Who's Who in Syria's Civil War." *Council on Foreign Relations*. https://www.cfr.org/backgrounder/whos-who-syrias-civil-war (October 12, 2022).
- "Letter from YPG in Response to Human Rights Watch." 2015. *Human Rights Watch*.

 https://www.hrw.org/news/2015/07/23/letter-ypg-response-human-rights-watch
 (February 22, 2023).
- Lilja, Jannie. 2009. "Trapping Constituents or Winning Hearts and Minds? Rebel Strategies to Attain Constituent Support in Sri Lanka." *Terrorism and Political Violence*. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/09546550902765615 (March 22, 2023).
- Lister, Charles. 2016. "The Free Syrian Army: A Decentralized Insurgent Brand." *Brookings*. https://www.brookings.edu/research/the-free-syrian-army-a-decentralized-insurgent-brand/ (October 21, 2023).
- MacDonald, Alex and al-Aswad, Harun. 2022. "Syria: French court says opposition

- spokesperson can face war crime charges." Middle East Eye.
- https://www.middleeasteye.net/news/syria-opposition-spokesperson-can-face-war-crimes-french-court-says (February 12, 2023).
- Mapping Militant Organizations. 2017. "Ansar al-Sham." Stanford University. Last modified February 2017. https://web.stanford.edu/group/mappingmilitants/cgibin/groups/view/531#note13.
- Mapping Militant Organizations. 2019. "Jaysh al-Islam." Stanford University. Last modified July 2019. https://cisac.fsi.stanford.edu/mappingmilitants/profiles/jaysh-al-islam,
- Mapping Militant Organizations. 2019. "Jund al-Aqsa." Stanford University. Last modified July 2019. https://cisac.fsi.stanford.edu/mappingmilitants/profiles/jund-al-aqsa.
- Mapping Militant Organizations. 2021. "The Islamic State" Stanford University. Last modified April 2021. https://cisac.fsi.stanford.edu/mappingmilitants/profiles/islamic-state#_ftn8
- Ogunnowo, Oluwaseyi Emmanuel, and Felix Chidozie. 2020. "International Law and Humanitarian Intervention in the Syrian Civil War: The Role of the United States." *SAGE Open* 10(2): 2158244020919533.
- Roberts, Anthea, and Sandesh Sivakumaran. 2012. "Lawmaking by Nonstate Actors: Engaging Armed Groups in the Creation of International Humanitarian Law." *Yale Journal of International Law* 37(1): 107–52.
- Rubin, Alfred P. 1972. "The Status of Rebels under the Geneva Conventions of 1949." *The International and Comparative Law Quarterly* 21(3): 472–96.
- Rupar, Terri. 2021. "Nine Questions for the Syrian Rebel Commander Entrusted with the First U.S. Missiles of the War." *Washington Post*.
 - https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/worldviews/wp/2014/04/28/nine-questions-for-

- the-syrian-rebel-commander-entrusted-with-the-first-u-s-missiles-of-the-war/ (January 18, 2023).
- Ruys, Tom. 2014. "The Syrian Civil War and the Achilles' Heel of the Law of Non-International Armed Conflict." *Stanford Journal of International Law* 50(2): 247–80.
- Ryngaert, Cedric, and Anneleen Van de Meulebroucke. 2011. "Enhancing and Enforcing

 Compliance with International Humanitarian Law by Non-State Armed Groups: An

 Inquiry into Some Mechanisms." *Journal of Conflict and Security Law* 16(3): 443–72.
- Salehyan, Idean, David Siroky, and Reed M. Wood. 2014. "External Rebel Sponsorship and Civilian Abuse: A Principal-Agent Analysis of Wartime Atrocities." *International Organization* 68(3): 633–61.
- Sherlock, Ruth. 2013. "How The Free Syrian Army Became A Largely Criminal Enterprise." *Business Insider*. https://www.businessinsider.com/how-the-free-syrian-army-became-a-largely-criminal-enterprise-2013-11 (October 22, 2022).
- Simmons, Beth. 2010. "Treaty Compliance and Violation." *Annual Review of Political Science* 13: 273-296.
- Sivakumaran, Sandesh. 2011. "Lessons for the Law of Armed Conflict from Commitments of Armed Groups: Identification of Legitimate Targets and Prisoners of War." *International Review of the Red Cross* 93(882): 463–82.
- Somasundaram, Daya. 2002. "Child Soldiers: Understanding the Context." *BMJ* 324(7348): 1268–71.
- Sly, Liz. 2014. "Meet the Syrian Rebels Entrusted with the First U.S. Missiles Sent to the War."

- Washington Post. https://www.washingtonpost.com/world/middle_east/syrian-rebels-who-received-first-us-missiles-of-war-see-shipment-as-an-important-first-step/2014/04/27/61ec84d8-0f53-4c9f-bf0a-c3395819c540_story.html (March 18, 2023).
- Sundberg, Ralph and Erik Melander. 2013. "Introducing the UCDP Georeferenced Event Dataset." *Journal of Peace Research* 50(4).
- Stanton, Jessica A. 2020. "Rebel Groups, International Humanitarian Law, and Civil War Outcomes in the Post-Cold War Era." *International Organization* 74(3): 523–59.
- Syrian Center for Media and Freedom of Expression. 2020. "A Package of Evidence and Clues Regarding the Involvement of Jaysh al-Islam in Several Crimes." *Pro Justice*.

 https://pro-justice.org/en/justice/a-package-of-evidence-and-clues-regarding-the-involvement-of-jaysh-al-islam-in-several-crimes.html (March 12, 2023).
- United Nations Human Rights Council. 2022. "UN Human Rights Office Estimates More than 306,000 Civilians Were Killed over 10 Years in Syria Conflict." *UN Human Rights Office of the High Commissioner*. https://www.ohchr.org/en/press-releases/2022/06/unhuman-rights-office-estimates-more-306000-civilians-were-killed-over-10 (2023).
- United States Department of State. 2020. "2020 Country Reports on Human Rights Practices:

 Syria." *Bureau of Democracy, Human Rights, and Labor*.

 https://www.state.gov/reports/2020-country-reports-on-human-rights-practices/syria/
 (January 24, 2023).
- United States Department of State. 2021. "2021 Country Reports on Human Rights Practices:

 Syria." Bureau of Democracy, Human Rights, and Labor.

 https://www.state.gov/reports/2021-country-reports-on-human-rights-practices/syria

 (January 24, 2023).

- U.S. Embassy Syria. 2021. "Syria 2020 Human Rights Report." *U.S. Embassy in Syria*. https://sy.usembassy.gov/syria-2020-human-rights-report/ (February 4, 2023).
- Van Engeland, Anisseh. 2008. "The Differences and Similarities between International

 Humanitarian Law and Islamic Humanitarian Law: Is There Ground for Reconciliation?"

 Journal of Islamic Law and Culture 10(1): 81–99.
- Weinstein, Jeremy. 2006. *Inside Rebellion: The Politics of Insurgent Violence*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- White, Jeffrey. 2014. "Rebels Worth Supporting: Syria's Harakat Hazm." *The Washington Institute for Near East Policy*. https://www.washingtoninstitute.org/policy-analysis/rebels-worth-supporting-syrias-harakat-hazm (January 22, 2023).
- Wood, Reed. 2010. "Rebel Capability and Strategic Violence against Civilians." *Journal of Peace Research* 47(5): 601–14.

Appendix 1: Coding of Variables

This ontology was drawn from the O/R Lab Syria Project.

State Sponsorship: Sponsorship can take the form of material resources, training, verbal support, territory, and intelligence. It is important that the sponsorship is specifically from the government of a country and not private individuals within that country. If after a substantial amount of effort and time is spent trying to find this information (around one hour of active searching), then enter a "no" in this column to indicate that it has not been found whether a state sponsor exists for this group. If there is information about the year a state sponsors or stops sponsoring a group, make sure to code this column as a "yes" or "no" in the correct year row and provide the country codes in the following columns. For sponsorship, if you find evidence that a state actor started sponsoring a given actor in a given year, and don't find evidence that they stopped at any point, it is ok to assume they continued to sponsor the group in subsequent years. If you are answering yes, there will be subsequent columns about the state sponsor, and the types of resources given, so please pay attention to that while coding. It is likely that articles discussing state sponsorship will also have useful information about the types of resources given.

State Sponsorship_Group ID: f there is evidence of a state sponsor, in this column enter <u>ISO3</u> code for the country, as understood by the World Bank: <u>Country Codes</u>. For example, if Libya is the state sponsor of a group, then the corresponding country ISO3 code would be LBY. If there are multiple state sponsors of a group, separate the country ISO3 codes with semicolons.

Ideol polity political (ordinal)

What is the political order (e.g. type of government) that the rebel group aims to create post-conflict? How do they envision their government post-conflict? Keep in mind that this may change throughout the conflict, since some groups claim to support elections early on but later change. For this column, enter the number in which the rebel group falls on this spectrum:

- 1 Full democracy prioritizes representative government through elected officials
- 2 Hybrid regime combines features of democratic and autocratic regimes; often holds regular elections but is also characterized by political repression
- 3 Authoritarian prioritizes concentrated and centralized power under a single leader or a small elite cohort

Ideol polity religious (ordinal)

What is the religious order (e.g. involvement of religion with the state) that the rebel group aims to create post-conflict?

For this column, enter the number in which the rebel group falls on this spectrum:

- 1 Secular but group is not bound by religious goals e.g.
- 2 Secular but religion is important to membership e.g.

- **3 Moderate religious order** laws have a basis in religious texts but allows flexibility in private conduct
- **4 Strict religious order** prioritizes order governed by religious law in all aspects of life. E.g. calling for strict Sharia.

Ideol polity territorial (ordinal)

Does the rebel group want to gain territory? If so, what are their aspired boundaries? For this column, enter whether the armed group seeks status quo, separatism, bounded autonomy, or global aims.

- 1 Status Quo The rebel group likes the physical borders of the state but wishes for a different governmental order. EX: Free Syrian Army, Al-Nusrah Front, etc.
- **2 Bounded autonomy** Group seeking partial political separation from parent state and/or seeking self-determination with the ability to govern themselves under auspices of central authority. EX: Front de 56iberation du Québec
- **3 Separatist** Group seeking full political separation from parent state; seeking self-determination as a fully independent state or seeking to be incorporated within another state. EX: Kurds, Northern Ireland, Eastern Ukrainian separatists, etc.
- **4 Global** Are they trying to actively take over *new* territory and found their own empire? EX: Islamic State

Appendix 2: References for Table 2

Free Syrian Army

Asal, Victor, and Rethemeyer, Karl. 2015. "Project on Violent Conflict – Free Syrian

Army." National Consortium for the Study of Terrorism and Responses to Terrorism.

https://www.start.umd.edu/baad/narratives/free-syrian-army.html (September 18, 2023).

Carafella, Jennifer and Casagrande, Genevieve. 2016. "Middle East Security Report 29: Syrian

Armed Opposition Powerbrokers." Institute for the Study of War. 7-47.

Laub, Zachary. 2017. "Who's Who in Syria's Civil War." Council on Foreign Relations.

https://www.cfr.org/backgrounder/whos-who-syrias-civil-war (October 12, 2022).

Lister, Charles. 2016. "The Free Syrian Army: A Decentralized Insurgent Brand." Brookings.

- https://www.brookings.edu/research/the-free-syrian-army-a-decentralized-insurgent-brand/ (October 21, 2023).
- Geneva Call. 2012. "Code of Conduct of the Free Syrian Army." http://theirwords.org/?country=SYR&ansa=134 (September 22, 2022).
- Geneva Call. 2016. "Declaration of the Free Syrian Army." http://theirwords.org/?country=SYR&ansa=134 (January 12, 2022).
- Geneva Call. 2014. "Statement of the Free Syrian Army about the Recruitment of Child Soldiers." http://theirwords.org/?country=SYR&ansa=134 (October 21, 2022).
- Geneva Call. 2014. "Statement of the FSA Calling for the Immediate Demilitarization of Schools and Hospitals." http://theirwords.org/?country=SYR&ansa=134 (October 21, 2022).
- Geneva Call. 2014. "Free Syrian Army Proclamation of Principles." http://theirwords.org/?country=SYR&ansa=134 (November 6, 2022).
- Sherlock, Ruth. 2013. "How The Free Syrian Army Became A Largely Criminal Enterprise." *Business Insider*. https://www.businessinsider.com/how-the-free-syrian-army-became-a-largely-criminal-enterprise-2013-11 (October 22, 2022).

Hazm Movement

- Carafella, Jennifer and Casagrande, Genevieve. 2016. "Middle East Security Report 29: Syrian Armed Opposition Powerbrokers." *Institute for the Study of War*. 7-47.
- Geneva Call. 2014. "Deed of Commitment under Geneva Call for the Prohibition of Sexual

- Violence in Situations of Armed Conflict and Towards the Elimination of Gender

 Discrimination Hazm Movement." http://theirwords.org/?country=SYR&ansa=262

 (January 19, 2023).
- Geneva Call. 2014. "Deed of Commitment under Geneva Call for Adherence to a Total Ban on Anti-Personnel Mines and for Cooperation in Mine Action Hazm Movement." http://theirwords.org/?country=SYR&ansa=262 (January 15, 2023).
- Rupar, Terri. 2021. "Nine Questions for the Syrian Rebel Commander Entrusted with the First U.S. Missiles of the War." *Washington Post*.

 https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/worldviews/wp/2014/04/28/nine-questions-for-the-syrian-rebel-commander-entrusted-with-the-first-u-s-missiles-of-the-war/ (January 18, 2023).
- Sly, Liz. 2014. "Meet the Syrian Rebels Entrusted with the First U.S. Missiles Sent to the War." *Washington Post*. https://www.washingtonpost.com/world/middle_east/syrian-rebels-who-received-first-us-missiles-of-war-see-shipment-as-an-important-first-step/2014/04/27/61ec84d8-0f53-4c9f-bf0a-c3395819c540 story.html (March 18, 2023).
- White, Jeffrey. 2014. "Rebels Worth Supporting: Syria's Harakat Hazm." *The Washington Institute for Near East Policy*. https://www.washingtoninstitute.org/policy-analysis/rebels-worth-supporting-syrias-harakat-hazm (January 22, 2023).

Ansar al-Sham Battalions

- Carafella, Jennifer and Casagrande, Genevieve. 2016. "Middle East Security Report 29: Syrian Armed Opposition Powerbrokers." *Institute for the Study of War*. 7-47.
- Cassman, Daniel. 2017. "Ansar Al-Sham." Ansar al-Sham | Mapping Militant Organizations. https://web.stanford.edu/group/mappingmilitants/cgi-bin/groups/view/531#note13.

- Hussein, Tam. 2014. "The Ansar Al-Sham Battalions Carnegie Middle East Center." Carnegie Middle East Center. https://carnegie-mec.org/diwan/55066?lang=en.
- Nassief, Isabel, and Charlie Caris. 2014. "Rebels Reopen the Latakia Front." ISW Blog. https://www.iswresearch.org/2014/04/rebels-reopen-latakia-front.html.

Jaysh al-Islam

- Darwish, Mazen, and Michel Tubiana. 2020. "Syria: A Senior Jaysh Al-Islam Official Arrested in France and Indicted for War Crimes, Torture and Enforced Disappearance."

 International Federation for Human Rights. https://www.fidh.org/en/region/north-africa-middle-east/syria/syria-a-senior-jaysh-al-islam-official-arrested-in-france-and.
- Kajjo, Sirwan. 2020. "Rights Groups Allege Syrian Rebel Leader Arrested in France Committed War Crimes." VOA.
 - https://www.voanews.com/a/extremism-watch_rights-groups-allege-syrian-rebel-leader-a rrested-france-committed-war-crimes/6183649.html.
- MacDonald, Alex, and Harun al-Aswad. 2022. "French Court Says Syrian Opposition

 Spokesperson Can Face War Crime Charges." Middle East Eye.

 https://www.middleeasteye.net/news/syria-opposition-spokesperson-can-face-war-crimes

 -french-court-says.
- Mapping Militants team. 2019. "MMP: Jaysh Al-Islam." CISAC.

 https://cisac.fsi.stanford.edu/mappingmilitants/profiles/jaysh-al-islam#text_block_19734.
- Perry, Tom, and Laila Bassam. 2018. "Syrian Government Launches Assault on Last Rebel Enclave in Ghouta." Reuters.
 - https://www.reuters.com/article/us-mideast-crisis-syria-douma/syrian-government-launch es-assault-on-last-rebel-enclave-in-ghouta-idUSKCN1HD1VO.

Syrian Center for Media and Freedom of Expression. 2020. "a Package of Evidence and Clues Regarding the Involvement of 'Jaysh Al-Islam' in Several Crimes." Pro Justice. https://pro-justice.org/en/justice/a-package-of-evidence-and-clues-regarding-the-involve ment-of-jaysh-al-islam-in-several-crimes.html.

Jund al-Aqsa

- Carafella, Jennifer and Casagrande, Genevieve. 2016. "Middle East Security Report 29: Syrian Armed Opposition Powerbrokers." *Institute for the Study of War*. 7-47.
- Davison, John, and Robin Pomeroy. 2017. "Syrian Jihadists Make Rapid Advance against Rebels Monitoring Group." Reuters.

 https://www.reuters.com/article/uk-mideast-crisis-syria-rebels/syrian-jihadists-make-rapid-advance-against-rebels-monitoring-group-idUKKBN15P1G0.
- "Jund Al Aqsa Security Council." 2014. United Nations.

 https://www.un.org/securitycouncil/sanctions/1267/aq_sanctions_list/summaries/entity/jund-al-aqsa.
- Mapping Militants Team. 2019. "MMP: Jund Al-Aqsa." CISAC.

 https://cisac.fsi.stanford.edu/mappingmilitants/profiles/jund-al-aqsa#highlight_text_1773

 2.
- MEE staff. 2016. "Syria Rebels Outraged as Fateh Al-Sham Sides with 'Is Front Group'."

 Middle East Eye.

 https://www.middleeasteye.net/news/syria-rebels-outraged-fateh-al-sham-sides-front-group.
- Reuters. 2016. "U.S. Sanctions Jihadist Syrian Rebel Group Jund Al-Aqsa." Thomson Reuters Foundation. https://news.trust.org/item/20160920124221-swpew/?source=reTheWire.

People's Protection Units

- Al Jazeera. 2019. "Who Are the Syrian Democratic Forces?" Turkey-Syria Border News | Al Jazeera.
 - https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2019/10/15/who-are-the-syrian-democratic-forces.
- Center for Preventative Action. 2023. "Conflict between Turkey and Armed Kurdish Groups |

 Global Conflict Tracker." Council on Foreign Relations.

 https://www.cfr.org/global-conflict-tracker/conflict/conflict-between-turkey-and-armed-kurdish-groups.
- Lund, Aron. 2016. "Origins of the Syrian Democratic Forces: A Primer." Syria.

 https://deeply.thenewhumanitarian.org/syria/articles/2016/01/22/origins-of-the-syrian-de mocratic-forces-a-primer.
- Perry, Tom. 2017. "Exclusive: Syrian Kurdish YPG Aims to Expand Force to over 100,000." Reuters.
 - https://www.reuters.com/article/us-mideast-crisis-syria-ypg-exclusive/exclusive-syrian-kurdish-ypg-aims-to-expand-force-to-over-100000-idUSKBN16R1QS.
- Portzer, Lt. Cmdr. Joshua M. M. 2020. "The People's Protection Units' Branding Problem

 Syrian Kurds and Potential Destabilization in Northeastern Syria." Army University

 Press.
 - https://www.armyupress.army.mil/Journals/Military-Review/English-Edition-Archives/May-June-2020/Portzer-Peoples-Protection-Unit/.
- Yisti, Fermandariya. 2020. "Letter from YPG in Response to Human Rights Watch." Human Rights Watch.
 - https://www.hrw.org/news/2015/07/23/letter-ypg-response-human-rights-watch.

Islamic State and the Levant

- Kirdar, MJ. 2011. "AQAM Futures Project Case Studies Series: Al Qaeda in Iraq." *Publication Center for Strategic and International Studies*.
- Laub, Zachary. 2023. "Syria's Civil War: The Descent Into Horror." *Council on Foreign Relations*. https://www.cfr.org/article/syrias-civil-war (Febraury 22, 2023).
- Mapping Militant Organizations. "The Islamic State." *Stanford University*. Last modified April 2021. https://cisac.fsi.stanford.edu/mappingmilitants/profiles/islamic-state#_ftn13 (March 21, 2023).
- The Carter Center Syria Project. 2019. "A Review of ISIS in Syria 2016 2019." *The Carter Center*.
- Yourish, Karen. 2014. "The Fates of 23 ISIS Hostagse in Syria. *The New York Times*.

 https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2014/10/24/world/middleeast/the-fate-of-23-hostages-in-syria.html (February 22, 2023).

Al-Mujahideen Army

- Baas, Saskia. 2016. "Dispatch No. 5 Syria's Armed Opposition" ed. Matt Johnson. Small Arms Survey.
 - https://smallarmssurvey.org/sites/default/files/resources/SANA-Dispatch5-Syria-armed-opposition.pdf.
- Carafella, Jennifer and Casagrande, Genevieve. 2016. "Middle East Security Report 29: Syrian Armed Opposition Powerbrokers." *Institute for the Study of War*. 7-47.
- Dark, Edward. 2014. "Syria's Islamist Rebels Force Christian Activist to Wear Veil." Al-Monitor.
 - https://web.archive.org/web/20180118182620/https://www.al-monitor.com/pulse/originals

- /2014/03/marcel-shehrawo-activist-syria-christian-mujahideen.html.
- Lund, Aron. 2014. "The Mujahideen Army of Aleppo." Carnegie Middle East Center. https://carnegie-mec.org/diwan/55275.
- Lund, Aron. 2014. "Pushing Back against the Islamic State of Iraq and the Levant: The ..."

 Carnegie Middle East Center. https://carnegie-mec.org/diwan/54103.
- Perry, Tom. 2014. "Syrian Rebel Commander: A Little Us Training Goes a Long Way."

 Business Insider.
 - https://www.businessinsider.com/syrian-rebel-commander-a-little-us-training-goes-along -way-2014-12.
- Perry, Tom. 2014. "Facing Islamic State in Syria, U.s.-Trained Rebels Await More Help."

 Reuters.

https://www.reuters.com/article/us-mideast-crisis-syria-insight-idUSKCN0JF2L0201412 01?irpc=932.